THE TRAMWAYS OF NN BENDIGO.
By K& S Kings.

This month merks the 76th. amiversery of the first triel run of 2
.n battery tramear in the Vietorian provincisl city of Bendigo (then called
Sandhurst). This drief history of the Tramwsys of Bendigo is presented to commemorate
this event.

Bendigo and its suburbs has in turn been served by bettery trams, steem
trams and electric trams drawing their power fram an overhead trolley wire, and this
history is therefore divided into these three sections, with the latter again divided :
into operation by the Electric Supply Company of Victoria Iimited and the State Electricit;
Commission of Victorias The text which follows will deal meinly with the overall history,

and, in exder to keep the article to a reasonsble lemgth, detailed deseriptions will
not be given of the rolling stock, as such is covered in the book "Destination
Eaglehesk, which i3 dus to be published about the seme time as this axrticle.

Bendigo is the fourth MR largest urban area in Victoria, being situsted
approximately 100 miles fram Melbowwue, on the main northecast reilway line. The
population st present is approximately 40,600 people, which figure covers the "greater"
area of Bendigo, and inclvdes the independent Borough of Esglehawk, snd Kangarco ¥lat,
wideh 1s situsted within tho Shive of ligrong, Gold was first discovered in the avea in
1851, and the usual "yush® followed, and it is reported that 25,000 people were in the
distriet by the following years The Munjeipelity of Senflmrst was proeclaimed in 1855,
being declared a oity in 1871. The population reached 28,700 in 1881, and has tncm'omﬂ..
very little since (30,190 in 1961), the remainder living in Eaglehawk or Kangsroo Flate
Bendigo flourizhed on its rich gold fields for many years, but has changed little mince
the 1880's; except for "modernisation™ in the last few yoars.
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The twin communities of Sandhurst and Eaglehawk were relatively early in
considering the possibility of operating street tramways within their aveas. One such
proposal was made to each Couneil in April, 1887, by a Mr. G. D. Mendell, representing
& Tramway Syndicate, who planned to construct and operate horse tramways from Charing
Cross to Sandhurst railway station (40 chains), Faglehawk ( S miles 70 chsins), Lake
Weeroona ( 1 mile), and Maple Street, Golden Square (1 mile 350 chains), a total of
€ miles 60 chains. He also offered to purchase many of the cab horses and employ their
@rivers (many horse cabs regularly plied for hire between Sandhurst and Esglehawk,
and provided employment for several dozen men). Another interesting offer was uh, in
the same month by a My. Burk, as sgent for the"Creusat Foundaries Patent Trmyﬁms".
which company had already installed its products in France and South America. The
design called for 36 1b. rail to be carried in cast iron cheirs (at 59 4n. o 60 in.
centres), held in place by wedges and kept to gauge by tie rods, with points of cast
steel, and curve rail bent at the works for easy installation at the site. Ancther
interesting offer came from a loecal resident, a Wm. Buttle, of Querry Hill West, who
proposed to form a "Sandhurst Cabowners Tramway Campany® to convert the horse cabs to
horse trams. A model was displayed wherein the wheels (presumably of the horse cabs)
would be removed and replaced by eight inch diameter rollers, yrunning to a gauge of
either three feet or six feet (presumsbly, that is, in a shallow trough). Nething came
of these proposals.

The public also tock an interest in the events, Petitions were presented
requesting variations to the routes and protesting ageinst the installation® of trams.
Other residents urged that any concession be not granted to Melbowrne "eapitalists®, as
the profits would be taken out of the district in addition to the cab men suffering.
Some idea of the size of the cab industry can be gained from the following figures:-
70 cabs on the Eaglehawk route; S0 cabs on the Kangaroo Flat roed; 11 o White Hills;
32 on Hackney carriasge stands; 220 horses used, and valued at about £3,000; cabs cost
between £30 and £100 each, and valued at about £6,000; some £10,000 per year spent to
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occupation for injured miners, Mchmmummmﬂnxmmm-lm'
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to Maple Street, Golden Square, with extensions to be made later to White MHills ana
Kangaroo Flat. Thompson Moore & Co., of Ballarat, offered to instal horse trams from
Sendhurst Railway Station to Eaglehawk Town Hall (d.lilartotbotypothntth-ynu
ﬂmmmfaw,m.t). A third tender was received firom Mr. Burke, of the
Creusat Works, Melbowrne, proposing horse tramways, on the Creusst system, from
Sendlurst to Baglehawk, and White Hills. It was decided to ask Woolf and Mendell to
amend their tender, mdnwhmmnmdntawcwoummm October.
Itmmosmtomcmﬂmuthﬁonmnnn should be made $o M. Walter Prince,
of Dunedin, concerning battery tramcars. Itmluhcmuyhamdthatll& Prince
wm&mwmf&httmtmnﬂutm system, and was about
tom.msorwm-u&m othhmteuinsm.

In January, 1888, Mur. G, mnnmnnumumsmn
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in Jumery, Messrs. Booth, Ellson & Co., eivil and electrical engineers, of Melbourne,
advised that they represented certain English firms, and would be plessed to visit
Sandhurst to discuss the matier of a tramway system. The April Conference also received
2 translation from French giving details of M Julien's system of battery tramcars,
and an offer to tender from W. Masters, slectrical engineers, of Melbourne. However,
the only tender received by snother Conference, held on 7th. May, was from Booth,
Ellson & Co», and this was subsequently ascepted. Briefly, it contracted to operate
battery tramcars between Sandlurst and Eaglehswk for a 30 year period, using 45 1b. rail
mmwnmmmmmmm;arwmm, and.tramcar:
seating 16 passengers; slso, to build a line from White Hille to Kangaroco Flat, md:ko
?Mﬁdhmwmteal Company then in course of formation. Mr.
ﬂAuhtq\nnﬂy left for England to investigate the equipment available snd to place
oxrders sccordingly. The line to Esglehewk was to be double track to the Five ldons
corner, thence single off the crown of the road to allow for duplicetion, with passing
loops as sgreed upon, while the White Hills to Karngaroo Flat line was to be either in
the middle of the road or off-centre, as agreed. It would sppesr that negotiations
between the Sendlmrst and Eeglehawk Councils, mmuudu;rm(mmum'cm
Eangaroo Flat is situated), Government Departments and the Company to finalise all the
necessary documents and to obtein the Order-in-Council became somewhat protracted.
Tenders were called by the Company for materials and work, but could not proceed for
some time.

Councillors became uneasy and camplained sbout the lack of progress at the
February, 1889 meeting at Sendhurst Town Hall, which gathering was told that the Compeny
was interested in and negotiating for some equipment then operating in the Sandhurst

Exhibition. Sk

souipments Mearwhile, the Sendhurst and Faglehawk Eleetrie Tramwey Compeny Idmited had
been registered on 9th. October, 1888, and the Victorian Reilways had granted permission

——
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for the Company to construet its track on the railway reserve in order to reach the .
m«mwmmmmsamcuywwwi
Trumay Conference (Couneillors of Sendhurst, Eaglehawk and Mfrong) on Oth. April that
Mr. Booth had recently conferved with him on the sites of the loops for the Eaglehawk
route, suggesting three after the Five Iions corner. The Surveyor subsequently
realised that this would be insufficient, MMMlmntomcmtm.
which delegated the Surveyors of Sandhurst snd Faglehawk to arrange the locations with
the Company. The loops were to hold two cars on each track, be situated on as near level
ground as possible, and be placed to allow a ten minute service to be operated. An
extracrdinary meeting of shareholders of the Campany was held on 6th. March, 1889,
during the course of which there was much arguement and many charges were made., It
would sppesr that the Sandhurst and Esglehawk Flectric Tramwsy Company Ldmited had
padd the Australasisn Flectric Tramway Company £6,000 plus 5,000 shares for the rights
to hudld and run the trams, but the Sandhurst, Eaglehswk and Morong Councils had not -

yet fully delegated their powers te the Australasian Fleetric Trsmway Co. In the weeks
before the meeting, the Compeny's 5/- shares, which hed been selling at 6/6d., hed
failed to attract buyers when offered et 1/34. Eventually, on 27th. May, 1889, the
Tramway Conference was sble to delegate the Couneil's powers to Messrs. Booth, Ellson
and Co., and, on the same day, Mr. Fllson arrived in Bendigo frem his overseas trip,
and gave detalls of his journey, He stated that he had ordered six cars, and that he
tested one himself on severe grades under heavy loads. It had been shipped six weeks
ago, and the remainder would follow in June and July, with the plant and equipment due
in June.

Work now proceeded quickly on the loeal scene. Track exeavation commenced
on 4the June at the railwey station, and sleepers and rails were quickly laid, Building
of the car shed and charging house (for the batteries) got under way, and it was hoped
%0 have the first car rumning in September on a section of the track, and to reach
Raglehawk in November. However, as events were to prove, nuhmmnmhhprogl;_



false, while this relatively brief period of rapid local construction was to be the :
mwmwumem'smm.

The second half yeerly meeting of the shareholders was held in Sl
Sandhurst on 29th. July, and hesrd various reports on the progress of the works. The
forecasts of a few weeks earlier were already fading, as it was now stated that the
first car would arrive in August, with the other cars and the charging plant a few
weeks laters It was also mentioned that eight cars had been ordered (whereas prdvious
reports had nid dx). The plant comprised water tube boilers from Babeock and wuoox.

MJI{ E’t—ﬁf;’cqlﬁ\ .n_ehnj Co, m
of GClasgow, compound vertical engines, Dynamos firom the M

N
of the B2 Viectoria type, while this latter firm alsoc supplied the electrical equipment

for the tramecars. The bulldings and track were completed by late October, and the
boilers received, but most of the remainder of the plant was now long overdue. The
deleys were blamed on strikes at the docks in England and to a glut of orders held by
the manufacturing Companies, which meant that they could not maintain their schedule

of deliveries. It was subsequently revesled (@uring reeriminations after the Company
had failed) that proper eontracts were not entered into (with penalty clauses), because
no supplier would undertake work under such conditions. The first car was assembled
and ready by about the end of October, but could not be tested, and was laid aside
pending further developments. The Directors ¢told the third half yearly meeting of
shareholders, held early in February, 1890, that they were disgusted with events
relating to the seven cars and certein equipment. They proposed testing the track,by
hauling a tramecar over it by horse power, before accepting it from the contracter.

The remeinder of the plant eventually arrived and was assembled, and the
first trisl run was held at 10,00 o'clock on the night of Thursdsy, 10th. April, 1890.
I11 fortune continued to haunt the Compeny, as the car derailed on the curve leading
from the Depot, into Mollison Street. It was re-railed, and ran quite well along the
level track towards Mitchell Street, but there was much areing from the motors when

the car was driven up the gradient towards the railway station. Itmfurodthntho
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floor of the car might cateh fire, so the trial was abandoned, and the car returned to
the depots Another trial was run on 24th. of the month, when the car ran on the level
in Mollison Street for about two hours, but did not venture to the station. This tramcar
was fitted wp at the works of Messrs. Stephens, Smith & Co., Millwall, being built by
Mre. George Milnes, of Birkenhead, o the best American two horse patterm. It was driven
by two Reckenzaun motors, each of eight horse power, through worm gears with a pitch
of 45 degrees, to the two axles. The 73 cells, each of 17 plates of 160 smpere hours
capacity, were placed on long boards on rollers beneath the seats. The car was lighted
by incandescent lamps, SNNEEN {itted only with hand Lrakes, and had a controller
mounted on each end platforms Four more cars arrived about the middle of April, end a
half hourly service commenced between the railway station and the corner of Barnard
Street and Mt. Korong Road on Saturday, l4th. June. Operations were extended to the
Ironberk Hill on Wednesday, 25th, but the service had not reached Eaglehawk by 30the.
SENJER June. Between the l4th. and 30th. June, two trams had run 780 miles and carried
4,958 passengers. The fourth half yearly meeting of shareholders was told on 50th. July
that the six @@ saloon cars had been assembled, but had all needed modifications to
suit them better to local conditions. The Engineers, Messrs. Booth, Ellson & Co.
veported that cars Nos. 2 to 6, mpplioaAnthnMCmpm.monctundmd
uhudhcncxpcmd‘mrth- ecsr supplied by Messrs. Stephens, Smith & Company, and
had needed much rewiring, improved protection for the motors and other modificaticns.
They were also 15 ewt. heavier than expected, and it was suggested that they be used on
the very flat terrain from Xangaroo Flat to White Hills, if the Company were sble to
construet this route. The trams had epparently reached Eaglehawk by the 30th. July, as
the journey time was reported as 40 minutes, whereas the Divectors hoped that it could
be reduced to MR 355 minutes. _

The first reported accident took place on 7th. July, when the front of a
tram was slightly damaged due to a collision with a horse-drswn dray, while a more
serious sccident took place on Sunday, 27th. July, when a crowded tram, estimated to



down grade) and derailed. The service continued to operate, but not satisfactorily.
Breskdowns were contimuocus, snd the Directors withdrew the trams on 235rd. September,
1800, after some 13 weeks of rumning. The last two trams received, Nos. 7 and 8, were
sumer cars (deserided alternatively as "of the dummy type"), and probebly entered
service during August. Exact details of their appearance has not been ascertained.
The Company requested the Sandburst City Couneil, at its meeting on 19th. September,
for permission to convert to overhead wires, stating that the battery trams were a
failure. The Council referred the request to its Finence Comittee and to a Tramway
Conférence. Offers were made to the Company to convert to either ceble ar steam
haulage, as well as horses end overhead wires, the latter being made by a lir. Chas.
Flesch, of Melbowrne, with plens of the Thomson-Houston system, apparently in competition
with the Union Wleetrie Company of Australia Ltds, who offered the seme system! A
stormy meeting of shareholders was held on 29th. September, during which it was stated
MMMM‘“‘ mrmmmuu.m,mmw

Couneil had objected, and, therefore, the Company hed had to obtain the next best
available - bDattery tramcars. It was elso stated that the Brussh Company hed tested
only one cer before they were shipped frois England. Varicus charges and allegations
mmﬂn,Maoemithootahnnhol&rsmﬁmuyappointoatomoruthm
Divectors on the future of the Company. Fnquiries were mede from the pioneer electrie
tramwey st Box 1411, Melbourne, who were expecting their second car to arrive any day,
and of the Randwick to Waverley eleotric tramway, Sydney. The Cempany slse approached
WWMuwﬁmiﬁpMnhwumﬂDMﬂnl. and the
rate payers voted 500 to 189 ¢o grant permission, at & poll held on 22nd. Jmmv,l&?-
Extraordinary meetings of shareholders wers held during B Merch end April,
1891, to pass and confimm various motions to smend the structure of the Cempeny, to
ensble additional capital to be raised so thet conversion to overhesd trolley wire
eould be carried out. However, by late April, very few of the additimal shares had been
subsoribed to, end 4t was decided that the Company should go into voluntary liquidation.



Meaxwhile, the task of winding up the Sandhurat snd Esglehawk Blectrie
Tramvay Company Timited quietly contimued, and was concluded in July, 1895, The 55,000
issued sheres, slresdy called up to 15/« each, received snother eall of 1/= esch to
enable the liquidation to be carried cut, and a very small aum (possibly only £414:0:9)
was returned to the sharsholders. From the aveilable newspaper reports, therefore, it
appears that the shareholders lost virtually all of the 584,000 that they subserided
for shares in the company.

Negotiations took place between the Couneils and the new Company in June,
1893, eoncoraing details far the construction of the White H1ls o Ksngareo Flat line.
The Cempany proposed a variation to its agreament dated Srd. Sepiember, 1891, %o ensble
the section firom Colden 3quare to tha Cas Works to be constructed Tirst, with the
extension to Kengaroo Flat later. The Councils agreedto apply for fresh Orders-in-
Council, o ensble the Cas Works to Golden Scquare seetion to e built within 2§ yesrs
of the date of the Order, end the Kengaroo Flat seetion within a further 4 years.

Naturally, there were protests fram the residents of White Hills, but {these were
apparently not headed. The ssecnd half yearly meeting of the new Compeny was told on
30th. July, 1892, that, for the five meonths ended 50th. June, the esrning rate had been
18 per cents, and thet a 10 per cent dividend could be paid, but that the Directors
thought it best to wait until the ond of the year before meling & decision. The five
motors haé run 44,49¢ mdles to 13th. July, =nd hed carried 202,055 passengers. 1% was
proposed to increase the issued sheres from 57,920 to 40,000. The first serious ecoldent
reported hoppened at 6,18 poms on Vednesdsy, 20th. July, when a tram desconded the hill
$0 the Jobs Bully level ercesing (fwom Bendigo), snd collided with a horse drewn buggy
in the naxrow section of the m:yvhiehf&m;dtho fenced spproach to the reilwey line,
"he three men in the buggy were injured, ome seriously. On Tuesday, 1lst. November, very
shertly after the Thoenix motcrs went into service, six drivers and four conductors
went on strike, alleging that the Phoenix motors were unsafe. The Company managed to
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extending the end platforms and fitting bolsters and bogiea. Battery cars Nos. 2 ¢o 6
became steem tram trailers Nos. 1 to 5 (neot necesserily il respectively), the
first one being delivered and tested in Mmms Mollison Street befors Christames. The
first motor to be completed was tosted by mk ruming 4t as far es the Gerden Gully i1l
early on Monday, 18th., January, 1892 Further trips vere made later in the day, including
hauling a trailexr. The werk of assembling and testing the steam motors was carried out
in the presence of engineers from the Baldwin Company. The steam pressure was 120 i,
and steam Lrakes wore fitted. The trams comsenced public service on lst. Februery, 1892,
and proved immensely popular, earrying 9,495 pessengers on 110 round trips by the end
of the first week. The Company decided (before the end of the second week!) to oxder
two mere motors and three more trailers, as a2 matter of urgency. The Bendigo Rolling
Stoek Compary was commissioned to produce the cars, and work wes immediately put in
hand on battery trams Nos. 1,mmk 7 and 8, and they becsme steam trailers Hos. 6, mufy

7 snd 8 As battery tram No 1 was a six~window saloon car compared with nine-window
saloons for Noss 2 to 6, it received longer end platforms during its transformation to
stean trailer Noe 6, then d1d the other cars when they beceame steam twrailers Nos. 1 to 5.
As previcusly mentiomed, the appesrsnce of battery trams Nos. 7 and 8 4s not known, MR
except that they were summer cars, but a former employee maintains thet stesm mbms

tram treilers Nes. 7 end 8 were bogie vehicles. The tender of the Thoenix Foundry,
Ballarat, was accepied for tlwee (increased from the esrlier dscision to acquire two)
steam trem motors, and these were to be larger than the Ealdwins, and capable of hauling
two treilerse The first one was tested in Skipton Street, Ballarat, mmkbe outside the .
Phoenix Company's works, on the horse trem line, on 29th. September, and hauled two
horse trems. It was despatohed to Bendigo and entered service early in October, followed
by the other two units. They received Nes. € to 8, being Puilders Nos. 515, 516 and 317

ssspmed  respectively.
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The Company advised the three Councils (sitting in a Tramway Conference), who agreed to
veloase the Company from its contract provided that another body was found before
S0th. June which would enter into a similar agreement. The Company called tenders for
the purchase of all its assets but, as the closing date was 50th. May, none were
received. Three enquiries were made from interested parties requesting more details
and an extension of time. Eventually, The Bendigo Tramwey Company Limited was floated
and registered (the name of Sandhurst having been changed to Bendigo on 18th. May),
and purchased the plant snd equipment of the Sandhurst and Faglehawk Flectric Tramway
Compsny Iimiteds It is interesting to note that the Councils altered their thoughts on
the form of motive power ¢o be used - the new Company was granted permission to instal
stesn trams. The new Company obviocusly acted very quickly, because the five mmt;'u
motors it had oxdered from the Balfiwin Locomotive Werks, U. 8. A, through lMessrs.
Newell and Co., Melbourne, were due to axrive in December, and it was hoped to commence

running before Christmas. These machines carried Builders Numbers 12241 o 12245 (not
respectively), end were of the mwmmek 0-4<0ST type, being of 4 ft. 8} in. gauge.
The new Company announced that it would extend the Sembdssbiem double track fram the
Five Lions corner $0 the top of the Carden Gully Mill, duplicate the main street at
Taglehawk, the section from Celifornia Gully o beyond the railway crossing, and from
the Hanchester Arms Hotel o the Picnesr Hotel, through Long Gully (although it would
sppeer that this latter section was either not done or modified to some extent). It was
hoped that the trip from Bendige railway station o Eaglehawk would take 20 to 25 minutes.
The five tram motors left New York om 10th. & October for Londen, were
trans-shipped; and arrived at Melbourne early in the new year. The first one arrived at
Bendigo on Bth. Jamuary, snd the remaindsr the next day. Work commenced immediately to
assemble them, and was expected to take about o fortnight. Meanwhile, The Bendigo
Rolling Stock Company econtracted 40 rehulld the battery trams as bogie wehicles by
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run a limited serviee with two trams, and begen reaxuiting fresh staff. A Distriet |

Locomotive Inspeetor from the Vietorian Peilweys tested the Phoenix miotors end passed
them as safe. The Benligo Trades Hall Council entered the dispute on behalf of the
striking men, snd it was decided to vefer the matter to san Arbitrater, who subsequently
found in R fovour of the Compeny. Thus ended the first industrisl disputs on the
Pendigo tremways, with the Company vefusing to reeemplay the strikers.

The Compeny had hired Bell Punches from the lelbourne Tremway and Omnibus
Company Limited to aid its fare collection, but seon found that 4t could save £80:0:0
per yesr by importing another type from America, which was stated to be "the same as is
ussd in Sydney". Treffie continued to boem, snd the loops were axtended to hold three
oars if neceasary. The existing track and rolling stock could net handle the erowds
at football and helidey times, but further Quplication could not be carried out pending
a new Order-in-Couneil. Mowever, ths half yearly meeting of shareholders, held on 3lst.

Jamusry, 1894, m to0ld that the financial position of the Company was not good, dupito'
408,955 pessengers being carried, snd 71,613 miles run, for the six months just ended. |
The Teaglehawk line urgently needed duplication to mm onable a betier service to be run,
nmpmengmmunotvmaomuammmtxm, end the Compeny was
Pound o buillf the Golden Square to Gasworks line within eight momths., All the issued
capitsl was fully ealled wp, and it was considered no use offering additional shaves %o
the publie hecause of the Company's poor financial state. mcmm&mcm
4n Mareh thet it would be unable to bulld the second line end, af'ter the Campany's
books had been inspected, ths Councils agreed to allow the Company to drop thds project.
This deeision was probeltly influemced by the "boom" bursting, resulting im a drop in
traffic,amimmmm shortage of money for new works, and the Company actually stating
that, if the Counedls insisted upen the 1ine being built, it would stop the trams on
Bthe May and "give uwp". Its fully paid up ® shaves had provided a capitel of £19,212 an
whieh an average dividend of 1% per cent had been paid, snd it eould not raise the



Mﬁmlm,owmtommmdm equip the new line, The traffic
statisties for the holf yeer ended 30th. June, 1894, showed that 397,748 passengers
had Deen carried, being a drop of 9,200, but the real lmpact of the depression was
felt aing the next eix months when passengors carried &ropped o 305,223 - dom
J24523. llleage hiad increascd to 73,704

The half yearly meeting of shaveholders, held on lat. February, 1695,
appears to have been given some insight inte the problems encountered. It would appeer
that the track end radls had given trouble, being Hoo lightly constructed for the
traffic offering, luch wark had been necessary, in addition to the duplications laid.
It was stated that 21l double track secctions were in reasonable eondition and within

|

visible distence of each other, Late in 1894, tluvee tramcars had been purchased, whieh,
"with slight alteyations”, it wos considered would he of considersble use. These cars
becane Hose § to 11, and were six window saloons with end SEmleEg vlatforma. Their
origin 4a not lmown, but it would eppesr from the veport that they were second hand.

They were four wheel vehicles. It is reported that they were fovmer lielbcwrns horse
trems, but it is not knewn which suburben line would havs had surplus cars of this type
aveilable in 1854, The stean tram motors had been uvslug ccke as their fuel, but the
victerian Rellways stopped the speciel freight rele for eccke in June, 1884. A legal
action ensued in which the Company won 2 verdiel for £247. The Company {ried using
coal, Wuat it was not successful. The Bendigo Cas Campany was unable to supply suf'fielent
coke for the Coampang's full roguirvements, so wood was used - and soon brought many
oomplednts about sparks emitted fros the motors, end o mmber of fires which they were
glleged to heve starteds Relations with the Viotorian Railweys bcca:‘:gaima when

A
the Compeny received notiee Yo stop rumning in the rellwsy veserve (firom Mitchell Street

%o the slation) on 29th. February, 1205, sk remove its tyacks and yeinstate the surfacs
within seven days. The Counedl sided with the Compeny, i appeals to the Railways
Camissionors Toiled. It was stated that the Compeny eould not affurd 40 pay the £370
pexr snram rent requlred by the Reilways. It was considered excessive, becauss ¢,
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MWW;‘W%&M- The Ceampamy aApplied to alter its tragk
layout 4n Mitehell Sirest, %o sult o termimal srrangement, but detadls ave not known,
It was subssquently SR stated that the change had s1ightly bBenefited the Company,
but the reasens were not given.

On Saturday, 15%h, July, at 6.30 p.m., in rainy weather, Motor No. 8 and
a trafler Qsscended the hill frem Garden Gully to Barnard Street, and apparently got
out of oontroly; Aue to the wet yails. It dersiled sni slewed a 1ittle, and ths end of
the roof of the trailer was dawsged when it struelk the motor. The trailer was re-railed
Yy the next motar to Zaglehawk, and motor No. 8 ve-rsiled MR itself. The frailer
involved is described es » "dummy", and is presumably either No. 7 or No. 8. In Febwuary,
1898, the coschas yunning between Paglehawk and Bendigo reduced their faye frem 83. to
34, , and the Comany wos obliged to do likewise. The Company wes subsequenily reported
$o e eomsidering the introduetion of fere sections. The deadloek continued with the
Vietorian Railweys over the freight rate for ccke, and the Company continued o use

wood Awring the winter, keeping the limited coks supplles from the loeal gas works far
summey. However, despite sewersl erperiments with spark arrestors, compleints continued,
and no type tried proved 100 per cent efféctive. Late in 1805, the Campeny constructed
one, 'md subsecuently two, new cars of light construction. They were very mmell four
wheel vehicles, and veferred to as “Umbrells" cars. They were mumbered 12 and 13, and
were intended to sugment the existing trams st holiday periods. It would appear that
the Sondhurst snd Feglehewk Flectrie Tremwny Compeny Ltd, Lad eonstructed the first of
these core in en effort to overcome the problems associsted with thedir hoesvy cars and
the Jimited copecity of the batteriess It would have been W their No. 9, but, although
reported suceessful in operantion, wes oo smell $o cover its rumming costs. It is not
certain vhether it enteved pssenger service, or was produced after running ceased, and
thereby only used experimsntally. Three additional ears (Nos. 14 ¢o 18) were apperently
ccrdssioned during 1896, They were six @ window saloon units, with end platforms, end
fouz wheels. They were slightly shorter than Nos. 9 to 11, but of the seme sppesrance.

.o
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The lowest peint in the economic depression was apparently veached in the
second half of 1805, when only 513,761 passengers were carried. The through fare was
5d. SER Quring this period, mnd the Directors said thet they aid not propese to increase
i%. Traffic subsequently improved with 558,830 passengers being csrried for the first
helf of 1896, and 356, 180 for the second six months. The half yesrly meeting of
shareholders held on 29th. July, 1806 listened to a mixed report on the state of the
undertaking, During the last 18 months, mich money had been spent on track duplications,
rail replacements, maintenance of the stesm tram moters, and building end buying new
trameers. It was stated that the Company now had sufficient cars to meet all traffie
réquirements. However, only £864 had been pedd in dividend (in 1892), and it was
decided to keep operating until a reasonable offer to purchase was veceived, rather
than stop u-;.‘ma.«. and be forced to SEMR sell for serap velue. RPequests had
been made to the Councils for assistance (such as relief of remt snd rates, snd for
the Counecils to take over the road maintensnce), but these hsd been refused. The

Compeny held an extreordinary meeting of shareholders on 20th. August, 1398, to consider
future policys A lelbourne Company had enguired the price of the plant (deteils not
given), and another fimm in Coolgardie (Western Australia) sought the cost of five

mobors and four Grailers. As ihw Directors did not have powsr o @lspose of the Company,
tids meeting appointed five shareholders and five Directors to investigate the sele of
the Company, preferebly as & vwhole, rather thsn in lets. Subsequently, a group of
citigens petitioned the Councils to help the Cempeny, and the Treders Associstion
favoursd keeping the trems, while ons man collected 506 signotures from Long Guily
residents in one dsy in sppreciation of “regular and rapid transit to end from the

city"s

4 Tramway Conference of ths Bendigo and Faglehewk Couneils was held on 7th.
Septenmber, during walch some inleresting statistice were supplied by the Compsny. From
the end of January, 1892 to Juns, 189¢ (almost 4% years), resceipts hed totalled m,m;,q

J
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being an average e‘f»\z 8,711 per enmm; operating expenses were £ 36,811: 13:10, being

an syerage of £8,180 par anmunj 4hus, Teceipts exceeded expanditure by an average of
£531 per yesr. The Company's assots stood at £23,500 and, if proper rates of depreciation
hiad besn applied, the net loss would have been £2,110 or 2460 per year. Fares had been
oollected from 5,254,896 passengers during 70,970 round trips. The Company had duplicated
o} miles of track at an expendituve of £2,500. Momever, the Faglehawk Council had
decided at its meeting three nights esrlier not to grant the Company any ooncessions,

so this Conference was sdjourned until 21st. Septenmber, during which interval several
netitions for snd against granting the Company's requosts were lodzed. The adjowrned
Conference remsined desdlocked, and veferred the question Yack to the Councils. The
Company sdvertised throughout Austrelia for intending purchasers, and shareholsers

were told ot the half yearly meeting on 20th. Jamuary, 1897, that negotiations were
proceeding, It was also revorted that the framcars were in good condition but needed
painting, that new regulators were being fitted to the Bsldwin moters, snd that many

of the T veils 1ed2 4n 1894 were csusing eoncern snd would need to be replaced shortly.
he situstion between the Compeny »nd the Councils sppears to have continued in o
stalemate, with the Company contimuing %o keep the twems rurning. Tha 12¢h. half yeorly
meeting of shaveholders, held mm eerly in August, 1807, wes told that » 136, system of
seetions had been introfuced, by pre-peid ticke:, om lst, June, in an effort to counter
£2114ng traffic. The through fare wes 84, Yut had been rsduced to 3& The dell
registers (for fore collection) hal been contimually bresking dowm, and it wes decided
4o adopt the Bvane patent fave receiver, as used in Adelaide and Ballarsé. These units
should have been in use shortly befors the meeting. Early in 1807, the Company had
sought permission from the Faglehawk Couneil to erect sheds either on the Market Reserve
er on Cyowm Tend behind the Town Hall, so that opersticms could be tranaferyed there in
order to effeet certein savings. This was vefused, so the Company purchesed the Mollison
styeet lersehold, ineluding the 1snd ocoupflied by the Bendigo Fleetrie Company, in ovder
that £80 per year would be saved in rent. SENER An pdditionsl track was 1sid on the
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northern side of the Depot to teke three cars, so that rolling stock would no longer

have 4o bo left in lollisen Street during the might. The permenent way, described as
being in "feir eondition", wes deing metalled, and 13 chains of T rail had been
zepleced by 50 Ibe steel rail. Three trams hsd boen re-painted, six re-touched and
MmmmmmmAammmwmmrmtow
them from the weather. An industrial dispute hal teken place during the last few days
mmcmmhadempm&abmtmmfmmm The men had gon® on
strike, but the dispute had now been settled - 'bythe(:mpanytaﬂtcmﬁnhmn!
It would appear thad the Dendigo Tremway Company's efforts to dispose of
its tremway @id not sucosed until the Briiish Insulated Wire Compeny entered the scene.
In February, 1899, the two IS companies applied to a Tramway Bonference %o
allow the former %o sell o the latber, to ensdble eleetric trems 4o be installed. The
new Company, of Fnglish origin, was in the process of purchasing the Bendigo Fleetrie
Campeny, ani sought a 30 year franchise o instal end operate electric trams on the

overhesd wirs systems The routes mentioned were to Raglehawk, snd between Golden Square
and the Tlack Swen Hotel (to be later extended to Kangaroo Flat and White M11s). It
wes decified to apyrove the applicetion, subjest 2o a formsl sgreement being drawm up.
The new Compeny oven suggzested using the "glet system® o the Fiye Tdons corner, and
tren overhesd wives to Taglehswk. A further Conference was held on Mareh 2nd. eo% which
the propuod' arsft sgreement was tabled. The full details of ¢this document eppear to be
sbout as cp&istic as the two previous ill-fated egreements. Some of the items ere as
follows:~ a%O year franchise; power to be electricity from overhesd wires; the present
track to be reconstructed in doudle track all the way, with the sections between Mollison
and Barnerd Streets and Buzzo's corner to Faglehawk Town Town on 2 corwrctc fo\mlhtim
with wood blook surface, the remainder being on longitudinal concrete stringers with
tarred mecadsm surface; the first two mentioned sections to be at 11 £t 6 in. centres
with centre steel or wood and steel poles, and the remainder at 9 ft. centres (as with
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£he existing steam trem tracks) with side poles and span wires; 4 ft. 8% in. gauge;
90 1b. grooved rail; a single track "branch" (this could bo messwmesesly botter
deseribed as an extension) to Darling Street (from the stesm tram terminus along the
northern boundary of the Feglehawk Town Mall land)j routes proposed were fram Lake
wWeeroons to Golden Square South, from Hollison Street to Quarwry Hill, and a branch off
¢he latter slong Olinda Street( for about half a mile into a hilly section) two streets
south of ths railwey line. The first proposed route was to be laid on a concrete bhase
with wood block paving between Jundfly Street and vattle Squave, with a tarred macadam
surface elsewhere, end to be double track throughout with centre poles and bracketsj
the other two proposed lines were to be either double or single track, and all three
were to be laid with at lesst 70 1b. rail; the basic service to be 15 minutes, with
a 10 mim':a:bdw‘ the morning, noon and evening "peaks"; the type of tramcar to be
similar to that then in use in Brisbane (a straight sill open "California’ eombination

car, with no motarman's bulkhead or windshield); speed to be between a minimum of seven
and & meximum of fifteen miles per hour; the first section to be commenced within two
years of the delegation of the Order, end completion mtslmmss to be with all reasonable
speeds the Councils 4o have power to purchase. The Conference approved of the foregoing
end other items, and referred them to their respective Council meetings. While
eonsideration was being given to these proposals, the residents of Mollison Street
petitioned the Bendigo Council snd asked thet the new Company should not be allowed to
use their street for the trsms. They alleged that the present Company had built a double
track in Mollison Street without Mﬁyz&u. and that the various operations
(shunting, olesning fires, blowingeoff, ete. )I\ s o nuicance, snd detrimental to their
propertys The matter was referred to the City Solicitor.

As a result of negotistions, The Electric Supply Company of Vietoria Limited

was brought iate being, MWWBWOWWCWn:LMMMtMMo
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Electric Company, having a capital of £400,000. The new Company decided that the ‘
Hollison Street premises of the Tramway Wk Depot and Power Jtation was not :ultaﬁlo
tcrwennimuua. and coumenced work on land opposite Arnold Street, between
the reilwsy line end o saall creek, ia 1C1, to erect a new power house, trm.dolpét
and officess By October, work on the bulldings were well advanced, and construction
mn.mm-wumuasua frames. Work to convert the steam
tyem tracks could have comsenced in December, but it was decided %o defer it until
Jemuary, 19032, so that residents would not be inconvenienced during the pre~Christmas
shopping period snd while the Exhibition was being held. (The Exhibdition wes being
held to camemorate the 50th. snniversary of the discovery of gold in the erea; a
narrow gauge electric railway wes one of the most interesting exhibits, and is the
subjeet of & vrief article in the June, 1057 issue of this journel). The propesals
mentioned eerlier had been somswhat diluted by the time the final agreement wes reached
and construction commenced. The Eaglehawk line became single $rack with no less than

seven pessing loops, being double track only at the Bendigo and Eaglehewk ends, while
the only double track on the Lake Teeroona to Golden Square line was between Charing
Cross and Arnold Gtreet, although the single track to Golden Square was 12id off the
erown of the road to be suitable for duplication. This latter section had the poles
placed on the cromn of the road to approximately the site of the present Fire Statiod
loop, as 4id both the double trsck sections on the Faglehawk route, and the double track
§n Pall Mall. The yemeinder was side poles with span wires, except the Darling Street
extemsion (single tyack), which had side poles end short bracket srms.

The track relaying appears to have commenced at Eaglehawk, with the steam
trams being progressively cut back (and replaced by horse cabs) as the new work moved
forward. On June 24th., 1%t was reported that the stesm trem serviee would soon be
suspended, snd additional men employed to hasten the completion of the new track. The
&rack was then campleted to Long Gully (ebout hel? way), and 8l 4t was hoped to have
the electric trams rumming before Christmes. By the middle of July, the hend of the

S .
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work had surmounted the Ironbark hill, and wes steadily nearing Bendigo. At the beginning
of December, work was in hand in Pall kall. However, it appears that there were delays
with the construction of the trvamcars. The Adelside firm of Duncen and Fraser hed
contracted o eonstruct 13 single truck cars, but it is not known if the delays were
dus to the late arrival of the eleetrical equipment or trucks, or to other causes.
The first trial was yun shortly after 5,30 p.m. on Wednesday, 8th. April, 1903, when
2 tramcar left the Depot and ran %0 Charing Cross. It returned to Armold Street, and
then ran $o Mundy Street and back. Passengers were carried - fare 6d. - between Arnold
Street and Charing Cross two nights later. The next morning (Saturday, 1lth.) saw a
trisl trip to Zaglehawi, and all went well except for a little trouble with a set of
points at Charing Cross. A track gang was put to work to rectify this, and it wes
planned to have at least two trams running to Eaglehawk on Haster Monday (13th. Js but
a rail broke at Chaviang Cross and prevented this talking place. Cars were run in Pall
Mell on the ionday and Tuesday, and finally commenced service to Daglehawk on MM

Vednesday, 15th. April, 1903, with two trems in use. It wes stated that construction
of the remsining tramesrs was being hurried along, and four cars were operating on the
Esglehawk route within a week. Two days later it was armounced that six trems were
eomplete, with two more noarly so. By this time, complaints had been lodged that the
trams were csusing interference to the telephones snd fire alsrms. It was not until
Wednesdsy, 15th. May, that the first electric street lights were tosted. On 30th. ay,
the Tlectrie Supply Company of Vieteris T4d. advised the Bendigo City Council that the
track to Quarry M1l was virtually completed, and wes rendy for inspection by its
Surveyor, but a newspaper report three dsys later stated thet no poles had yet been
ervected for the overheed wires. The Compeny then completed arrangements for building
the 1ine to Golden Square, end this project wes put in hend.

The first serious sccident to be reported happened at 11.00 p.m. on
Fridey, 29th. Mey, when two trams collided hesd on at Californis Gully. The ¢ram from
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the driver
Bendigo cerried the theatre crowd, and was subsequently dismissed for not walting at

the Needle loope Both trams were aama/:d. sesnsisslpebatiguman  the one ex-Dendigo
badly sos The second driver was severely cautioned and yeduced to a Conductor for ow
monthe The Golden Square line was started early in June, and a 3@ minute delay wes
caused waen a section of the overheed wires broke at Charing Cross at 11.00 peme on
Sunday, l4the Junee The routes to (uarry Hill, Golden Squere and Leke Weeroona were
subsequently completed, passed and opened, but the dates have not yet been ascertained.
Four additional traus were constructed to supplement the original 12 cars,
end were in service by 1904, los. 13, 15 and 1€ were three window saloons, converted
from stean tram tyeilers lioss © to 1l. No. 14 was a2 two window saloon oceyx, believed to
have been converted from one of steam tram trailers lNos. 14 to 16, but it could have
been built new by Dungen ené Fraser. All sixteen cars were carried on 21E trucks, with
two 25 hepe motors in the first twelve and two 30 h.p. motors in the last four. A water

tram was ordered new from the Eritish Flectrie Coxr Company in December, 1902, and

entered service the following year. It wes stored in 1818, reconditioned in 1936-38 for
furthey use, and finelly withdrswn and scrapped in 1954. The remaining twelve steam
tram trailers were reteined as trailers to the eleetric cars, being withdrawm and
serapped ebout 1510 o 1513, In Beptember, 1505, six double dack horse trams were
transferred from Ballarat (which system had been converted to eleotric trams by the

seme Company on 18the August, 1905), and immediately proved popular (probably because

of their better psssenger o weight ratio than the ox-steam trams). They continued in
use until 11th. November, 1925, as recuired, and were scrapped the following year. Two
new electric trams were built by Duncen and Frmx;in 1913, being single truck open
sumey cars. They were built with windshields, and same were subsequently added to the
other sixzteen trame during the late 1910's and early 1920's. These two cers were mumbered
17 snd 18, and continued in service until 1947, with No. 18 being sorepped the following
year, snd No. 17 being converted to the present track clesner in 1953. The Company
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W to convert the Leke Weeroons to Golden Cquare route to onc-men operation in
1815 as en econeny move, and trams Nos. 1, 5, §, 8, 11 and 12 were suitably altorca..‘
being referred to as "Fare Box Cara”. The rolling stock continued to run thus until
“new" cars were purchased froam 1830, and these will be mentioned latex. Nos. 2, 5, 4, 6,
10, 12, 13, 14 and 1C were withdrswn snd scrapped in the early and middle 1930's, and
Nose 1, 5, 8, 9, 11 and 15 in 1947. No» 15 was converted to one-man operation in 1942,
while Nose 8 and 9 wers modernised in 1946, es the beginning of a programme to improve
the six remaining 1903/4 cars. However, this decision was reversed, and all were
scrappeds These cars were fitted with destination boxes sbout 1935, and also air lrakes,
with No. 9 the first to get the latter.

The trailers were used at times of heavy loading, inoluding holiday and
sporting traffic. Trams would meet trains from Melbouwrne at the station on pienic dayn,
and would operate direct to Take Weeroona via the facing erossover in Mitehell Streect,

en
SR the cormecting curve into Pell all and thoAfacirn.g section of the compound orocssover

4in rall Mells Shunting at lLeke Weeroona, Guarry Hill and Golden Square was by human
effort on the level track, and gravity st the end of the double 4rack at Faglehawk.
The Job's Cully passing loop wes originslly placed nerth of the rallway bridpge, which
wes its correct position when the single track extensien to Darling Otreet wes in use.
However, 2s mining fell nway, the service was cut back o Just beyond the end of the
doble track st the "aglehawk Town Hall, and the correct position for the loop wes now
on top of the yailway bridge, in accordence with the new time tedles. This proved both
evwkurd and dengerous, and it was subsecquently removed to its present site. While
mentioning this location, it has not been ascertained when the stesm tram level crossing
was altered to an cverbridge, which iz believed to have been of timber construction.
Likewlise, the cht; of construction of the present steel tridge with brick abutments

is not kuown, but it is probably about 1920.

|

The State Fleetricity Commdssion of Victoris was created by Act of Parliement
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to be the na.'m eleotricity supply authority for Vietowle, and was veated with powers
o genorate sm or to purchase existing electricity supply companics. The first m
mads by the & E C. towerds the Electricip Supply Company of Vietoris Limited ceme
in 1925, when the Commission advised the Compeny that it was willing to purchese the
Compeny, whose fysnchise expirved in 163). Conferences were held between the & E. G

Dendigo Council end the Compeny during 1626-20, at which it was agrsed that the & E O

should scquire both the electricity supply end tramway sections of the Bendigo

undertaking. However, slthough the Commission had power to do the former, it lacked

| power Zor the letter, snd an Act was pessed by Parlimment to fully ratify the
negotietions, in December, 1820, The date of sele wes fixed at 1ast. July, 1931, bub

| the cperating frenchise vas extended to 50th. June, 1934, with the operations of the

' Company subject to the over-riding control of the S. E. C., which would supply funds |

for works necessery during this period. One of the provisions cf the 1929 Act was $o !

protect the tramways egeinst motor bus competidion by not allowing the Bendigo Counecil ;

| %o issue a license without the permission of the Commission. During 1932-33 the 8. B G
caryvied out o detailed investigation of the condition of the Bendigo tramwey system,
and presented = comprehensive report to the Goverrmenty and locrl councile. The repart
showed. that the most secnomical solution to the problem of the 30 yeer 01 sn? fairly
wern out system was to rehebilitate it for a life estimated at 15 yeers. The cost wes
given at £66,000 with the bulk of this devoted to track work, and the remsinder to
overhesd construction, workshops equipment and construction plent. Most of the momey
required was received from the Netional Recovery Loan Fund on moderate terms, with the
balence being & grent frem the State Govermment and from the S, E. C's. own recources.
The work was quickly put in hend after the Commission assumed@ full control, and full
gengs were on the job by about the end of September, 1034. By the 50th. June, 1935,
practicslly all the overhead had been reconstructed and 3.44 miles of track had been
relaid,
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Rtmtinztotheumrdrcphmntmnmg stock, the S, B c. agreed

mtmcmwnhmapumnammberdmludmlomtrmmfrmm
Melbourne and Metropolitan Tramways Bosrd, commencing in Jamary, 1930, in order thet
many of the old 1903/4 inmmmmmy tromosre could be withirawn. The first cer received
was Nelbourne M ¢lass No. 107 (ex Hewthorn Tramways Trust No. 1), and became Bendigo
Noe 195 4t was later remmbered (second) Ho. 12. It was sltered for one-man operation
by eutting a passageway through the drop-end tip-over seats, removing a sheet of glass
from esch near-side motorman'’s bulkiwad, meiieesesssssss (ixing un-wented barriexr
reils in the lowered position, end thus making it posaible for passengers to enter and
leave by the one doorwsy only, paying the operator through the speee in the bulkhesd
a5 they passed, This cor, and several others, were later altered to the present style.
Another nine trams were received from Velbowrne during 1930/31, being ex- B, J end M
clzzaes, snd beeoming Bendigo Yos. 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 10, 135, 14 and 18, They were

supplemented in March, 1938 by three more ex~M class which becsme Nos. (second) 19, 20

and 21, and ex~R c¢class No. 153 which became No. 22, in Jemuary, 19368, This latter cer
differed in being s straight s111 closed combination type, whersese the earlier ones
were typical drop-end open Californis oonbinstion units. SR The {Jeet ron thus
until the late 1940's, No. 22, never porular beesuse of the high steps, saw limited

s ond wes withdrswn end 20ld for serap in 1956, Tn addition to Wo, 12 (ex 19),

(seeond)
Nose 18,’\ 9, 20 sand 2?1 were converted to one-men operation with doorwsys at the front
of the car end immedintely behind the saloon, while No. 13 wes also sltered, but on the
*Ballarat ap style®, with the doorways at the four corners of the cer. The other cers
remained in unaltered condition until withdrawn and sorapped between 1051 and 1957,
A further stage in the development of the rolling stock tock place on 18the

October, 1945, when » meximun trection bogie tramcer was received from Melbourne. It was
ex~N olass Yo. 133, and beceme Bendigo No. 23, being followed by three more like vehicles

By 1947, which beeame Nos. 24 - 26, Between July, 1947, nd June, 1949, the 3. & G
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transferred its six Birmey safety cers from Geeleng to Bendige, subsequent to deciding
got to continue with the programme to modernise the six remsining 1903/4 trwa
"hese cars became Bendige Nes. 11, 15, and 27 - 30, all retaining their Geelong SR
mumbers except Noe 11, which had been Geelong o 14, Two more smm maximen trection
tramears were purchased from Melbeurne in 1951, being cless © (originally Pralwan and
becoming Bendigo Nos. 1’7 amd L 8;
Malvern Tramways Trust cars), Aansl this appeaved to terminate rolling stock development
for the foraceable future as no further cars were surplus in Melbourne. The problem of
inereasing costs and decyeasing passengers and revenue had become quite serious in the
sost war period, and the Comission SNBER decided %o comvert Ho. 17 (bogie car) for
one-men operation in 1852. The work was earried out, but the car has never run as such
a unit because the Tremway Tmployees Union have refused to man it as such. When the
tramway system at Ceelong was closed esrly ia 1988, the 5, R C. sent five maximum
traction Dogle trams $o Bendigo, where they becume Nos. 1 to 5, and allowed the last
of the unnliered Califernis combination ecars t.o be withdrewn, together with No. 13.

The sombinstion of BenMoo's centre-of-the-rosd single tracks snd poorly 1it sireets
was esusing concern, 8s the incressing evening motor traffie since the 1nte 1040's
hed yesulted in 2 number of head-on or off-side corher collisions with moter cexs.
Gar ¥o. 5 was Pitted with battery overated red tail 1ights in the lower cornars of
each spren early in 1980, as » result of which all esrs were so emivped. Incldents
continued, so white reflector tope was added to the dashss in 195¢/57. The next move
wos 4o 14 cemopies above the headlights and pednt them snd the humpers in yellow and
green M;:l}i%,! globes, each 80w, were Titied %o each cenopy, and i1luminated the
spron as well ss shining out through holes in the canopy. The %wo outside globes were
rod ol acted as ad@itional +ail lights, while the middle four were white for use in
conjunetion with the headlipght. The result iz euite impressive, and has resulted in
fewer insidents and colliaions. The frovt of a Bendigo trem now has one headlight and

Pour esnopy lights, as well as the asstination box, faeing oncoming traffic, while the
waay 4a susrded by four $ail lights; mmmmormunmcuw tape.

‘s

|
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transferred its six Birney safety cars from Geelonz to Bendize. muhasmiant ia daaddine ;
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Another interesting slterstion to the rolling stock ook plaee in October, 1960, when |
bogie cer Mo, 1 was sent to Ballarat and two single truck cars arrived from thet eity.
(This meant that the bogle car had had the umique distinction of starting 1ife with
the Hawthorn Tramways Trust, being absorbed by the Melbourne end Metrepolitan Tramways —;
Board, scld to the 8. F. C. %o operate at Geelong, sent to Bendige, emd then to Ballarat).
The two single truck cers beomne Bendigo Nos. (third) 6 and (third) 7, being slresdy J
oonverted for one-msn operstion on the "Ballarat style®. Birney ear Wo. 27 wes very
badly dsmaged in en sceident with a motor car in July, 1056, and was scrapped two years
lster, while Birnsy No. 15 also received mevere dsmege from another motor car in April,
1989, end hes been stored sinos.
Heving des)t with the rolling stock chenges under the Commissiond coatrol, ,
we must now rovert to the track slterations. The facing crossover in Mitchell Street and
the oompound crossover in Pall Mall were removed during or before the 1954/35
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reconstruction, while the off-centre track on the Golden Square route was placed on
the erown of the road during the relaying. Most of the track was relsid, reconstructed
or reconditioned at this period, including points snd crossings. The only extension
to be made was opened on 25rd. November, 1942, from Lake Weercona to Noxrth Bendigo,

40 serve the Goverrment Oxdnance Factory. It had originally been hoped to cross the
main railway line, but the Victorian Reilways would not 2llow a level crossing at
this point on their main line. Pending the outcome of negotiations, a short spur line
was built parellel to the main railwsy lime, ¢o act as a terminus, and this becams
mwm—mmmohwﬁnauuz::mmamn
being vemoved SEEMMEEAtANSNtER in 1056/57. The double track termimus at lalke
Weeroons was removed before 1850, leaving only the single track as a spur terminus;
tids was yremoved probably at the same time as the North spur. The Golden Square double
track termimus was removed sbout February, 1960 and replaced By & single traclk terminus,

while the similar facility at Querry i1l (umsed for many yeers, as the cars stopped

at the points) wes taken wp in July, 1964, Two recent bridge re-building projects

have involved the tyamwways. The first was in Nolen Streed, on the Horth route. Work
cammenced in lsweh, 1964: and the road was closed to motor treffiec, but the bridge kept
opén o e trams anA& as posaible. The old timber structure wes dismentled except
W for the piles and beayers cexrying the two tram ralls, while concrete retaining
walls and piles were budlt on either side and underneath. The bridge was closed to
tram traffic on ebout three cocassicns in Msy and June, while work was cexried out or
the structure strengthened after demege by the waters. On one cccasalon Blrney No. 29
wes isolated for s few days to run the service on the Worth side, while at other times
a sdnd~bus and taxds were used. Same of the xails from the dismentled Quarxy hiv b
texminus have been placed in the new btridge - in mass concrete to SR surface.
The work was conpleted by Tecember, and attention turned to Charing Crons, where the

Bendigo Creek passes undsrnesth the whole interseetion, including the Colden Squars and
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;, Yehavk trem lines. The Tramway 4rack geng (supplemented by the men from Ballarat) "
2@ earried out preliminery work over the week-end of December 8th to Sth., 1965, by
shortening the double track on the Golden Square route by ome pole length. This enabled

’ one Birmey tramear ¢o terminate just cleer of the pointe while the roedwey was opened

during stage two of the bridge re-decking work. Stage one comprised the area between

the Colden Squere and Foglehewk routes, and Stege two cut the Colden Souare line from

Monday, 7th. mcm%o’:;mvrate buses were hired to service the route, and carried e

Tremweys Conductor o collect the fares. The service co-ordinated with the North

Bendigo trams to the existing timeteble. The trem track wes re-connected about late

Jemusry, 1985, with rails set in mass concrete to surfece, and the tram service

RPN PRy s —

restared, while work continued with the rosdway on either side of the track. Stage
three, which includes the Feglehswk tracks, provides e nmumber of interesting items.

T4 hae been decid@ed thet the privete bus operators will be unable to service the route,

80 & mmber of bogie SEEM cers will be isolated for varying periods from the rest of
the system. Most of the extension to Darling Street is being brought back into use as

a storeage roed, snd a pit will be dug to facilitate servicing the cars. Suitable
protection will be provided, including a watohman. The erossover at Charing Cross is
partly over the bridge, and will be removedj another crossover was laid in View Street,
late in Jemuary, two pole lengths towards Eaglehawk. These items will enable a shuttle
service to be run on the Eaglehewk line, and it is hoped to have a temporary connection
over the bridge from time to time to enable cars to be exchanged as necessary. The
Cuerry M1l route will also heve to be run as a shuttle service, and a orossover has
been 1laid in Mitchell Street, near Charing Cross. These works have been shown on the
accompanying map, and expleimswhat doubtless appears to be an impressive track layout
gbout Charing Cross! The only other treck alteration took place by November, 1964, when
ons set of points was removed from the passing loop on the North Bendigo route. Thias
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sction placed the lm‘m of commission, snd the single line section now oxﬁmﬁs
from Arnold Street to the terminus.

All sections of single track in Bendigo are protected by two aspect
ecolour light signals, operated from trolley wheel contactcors placed on the trollsy wire,
except the short length between Pinders Loop and Quarry Hill terminus, and in Arnold
Street to the Depot. Decorated cars appear to have been rather scarce in Bendigo. In
the early yesrs of the electric tramways, crews were encouraged to decorate éuir
trems st Faster, but it is not known how long this practice lasted. No. 21 was decorated
in 1937 for the Coronation of King George V1, and No. 22 was decorated and illuminated
in 1984 for the Royal Vieit in February snd March of that year by lHer Majesty Queen
Elizabeth 11 and the Duke of Rdinburgh. The timetable for June, 1840, discloses 2 basic
service of 15 minutes on weekdays, tapering to 2C minutes later in the evening, execept
on Pridey afternoons when trams ran every 10 minutes, on the Eaglshawk to Quarry Hill
1ine. Saturdey headweys were the same as weekdsys except for a 10 minute service

from mid-morning to early afterncon and between 7.00 and 8.00 p.m. Sunday rumning
provided a 15 minute headway during the afternoon and evening, with two trams between
the Railway station and Eaglehawk in the morning. The Golden Zquare to Lake Weercona
route received s basic service of 12 minutes on weekdays and evenings, with cars every
nine minutes from the middle of Fridsy aftermoon to mid-evening. On Caturdays, %trems
ran every 12 minutes to 11.0C s.me, then every 9 minmutes until early afternoon, every

and
12 minutes until esrly evening, 9 minutes until sbout Auliupesmge 11.00 p.m. The Sunday

service was every 12 minutes du/:ing the af ternoon end evening., The last trams departed
from Charing Cross when the Theatres concluded their performances, usually ebout 11.00
polie y while the last cars on Sunday nights were a little eerlier. The present day timetabl
provide for a 15 minute service on Haglehawk/Quarry Hill until about 9,00 swm., 20
minutes until noon, 15 minutes until mid~afternoon, 10 minutes uatil about 6.00 p.m.,

15 minutes until about 7,30 pem., and 24 minutes until about 11.00 p.m. Saturdays receive
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$wo early cars st ebout 30 minute intervals, then 20 minutes to 8.00 a.m., fouwr runs !
45 9.00 s.m., then 15 minutes until about 7.30 p.m., with 20 minutes until the last
car, about 11.00 p.o. A 24 minute service is provided on Sundsy af'terncons and
evenings, while one tram meets the train from lelbourns about 11.485 g.m., runs to
Taglehawk and returns to the Depot. The North Bendigo to Golden Sguare line has trips

somevhat irregularly spaced at various times on weekdeys, but at 15 winute intervals
between 8,00 srd 9,00 2.m. , 24 minute intervals from mid-morning to nocn, 13 minutes
@uring the sftermoon until about €.00 p.m., and 24 minutes {rom about 7.30 pem until
11,00 pom. The eerly Seturday morning runs vary fram 19 to 20 minutes apert, thence i
15 minutes until the lest car. Sundsy afternocons ond evenings receive a 24 minute
gervice.

The Stete Mlectricity Commission of Victoria, being set up as the electricity
supply suthority for Vietorie, naturelly did not want to inherit the provinclal city
tramwoys when negotistions were under way in the late 1920's. , but eircumstances decreed

that semeone had to have them, an? “arlisment decided thet it chould be the Commission.
The S. % C. Anmual Reports meke contimiel reference to the problems involved in the “
sumtlswmml coerstion of the systems, including Bendigo, but the first occession on which
the Commission is known to have endesvoured to use the provisions of its Act relating %o
the closure of any of its tramways came in July, 1953. The Commission wanted to 2bandon
the Golden Square route om 6th. of that month, but the Government vetoed the plan. This
youte has the Kangaroo Flat private bus running over it for the full distance, and would
heve been relatively eesy to close and substitute the bus for the trems. The next major
move came on Fridsy, 2nd. Tebruary, 1962, (now khown as "Black Friday" to A. B T. A
menbers) when the S. ¥, C. arnounced that it would petition State Parlisment for
permission to sbandon its tramways at both Bendigo and Ballarat (end the M. & X T. B
armounced that it was sbout to close the three loesl trsm routes radiating from Footscray |

radlwey station). The resultant uproar from much of the locel population at Bendigo (end

g n e T 2
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Ballarat) seesspesseseion in protest against this proposal was econsidersble, and in
excess of that by those favouring the change. A mumber of protest meetings were held,
and owim“ orgmmd Although she S. ® C. prepared their petition %o be tabled
in Parlisment, 1% has not been lodged. Tt is not lmomn what has gone onf] "behind the
scones®, but it is possible that the problens of orgenising and providing replacement
private or Covernment us services is in excess of keeping the elderly and tinancian"
unsound tremway system running. Howsver, towsrds the end of 1983, the Depot staff
re-gommenced mejor overhsuls on tremcars, snd +his has eontinued. It would appear,
therefore, thet the Bendigo tramway system will contimie to operate for some time yei,
especially in view of the recent specisl errengements in commection with the re-bullding
of the Molan Street and Chering Cross bridges. These latter two projects would have
provided quite substantisl arguements in favour of ebsndoning the 4ramways, in view of
the age of the system in general, even though it operates quite well. From a loss of

£721 in 1985, when the S E. ¢ first took over, the finsncial pozition has steedily

dsclined. The snnual deficiency reached £19, 559 at the begimning of the war, dropped

to £15,159 in 1943, due to the jneressed loadings, snd since then has generally increased,
to yench £84,810 in 1961. The position was reached then when it was costing nearly 5.1&
%o operate the system for every 1d. collected in revenue. Since then, » comparatively
steep increase in fares would heve altered this ratiofj and the financial results, but

the position would still be poor (even though it 1s understood that remarkably few
passengers have been lost because of the fare increase). And so the situation rvests. The
8. B C. contimues to feithfully operate +he underteking and provide the servioe that

44 does not really feel it should, with (until recently) thn’\% electricity ttﬁ
rates bearing the deficiency. The system is kept in remarkably good comdition, but the
preponderance of single track sections, the use of single truck tremcars, #B Union
gmsistence on virtuslly all two-men operation? the motor car age and telsvision make 1%

practicsall {apossible for any appreciable
o - improvement to be msde in the finsncial
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o ensble this erticle to be written, much more remeins to be done. Readers will have
neticed ‘thl;: fairly detsiled work has been executed from 1887 to the late 1820's.,
with only a genersl coversge for the remaining years. Although this has tended to
meke the article unbalanced, it has been inclufled in order that these detoils may de
made readily available to those interested, ani so that anyome planing reseerch work
need not auplicate the work slready dome. The story of the Sandhurst and Esglehavk
Flectrie Tramway Compeny Limited 4s one of high hopes that vere doomed to tragedy
through prevailing cireumstances snd the limited technlesl lmowledge of the day.
w1ds article wos to hove been a sequal to "2 Brief Mistory of the Tramways of Ballerat®,
by W % Jack snd X, S. Kings, which sppeared in Decerber, 1962 and Jenuery, 1963
dssuas of thds Jowrnel, but ¥r. Jack's untimely death last year has made Joint
puthorsiip impossible. Yowever, some of the information used by the writer has been

bszed on information received from the late ¥r. Jack's files in past years. Others to

asaist in varicus weys hove been Messrs. W. Evans (retired Tramway Superintendent,
Bendigo), 1. Wetkins (retired Tremway Superintendent, Bendigo), B. W. Miller (Acting
Tremwsy Superintendent, Bendigo), T. Griffiths (former Semior Treffic Inapector,
Bendigo), % Mskepesce (Mepot Foreman, Bendigo), D. Irvin (Depot Foremsn, Ballaret),
the lste A, V. Mawhy (8 %, €. Superintendent of Tramwaye)s P. W. Duckett, C. R. G.
Pielg, L. C. T ,» K McCerthy sand J. B Price (of London). References perused were
"he Bendige fdvertiser”, "The Bendigonian", "The Weekly Advertiser", "Commonwealth

Pngineer”, Commonwealth Year Books, BENER Vietorian Yeer Books, 5 B O Annual Reports,

4 B U £ (Vietorisn Division) Bendigo Reilwey Centenary booklet, snd the writers
£iles. Although meny interesting items have been discovered during the research to date,
44 48 csrtain thet meny others remein to be discovered. 1t is to be hoped that the
foregoing article will serve as an interim record pending further research into the
past and recarding of events o come.
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